STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

DEBORAH LYNN FOSTER,

Plaintiff/Appellee,

v

RAY JAMES FOSTER

Defendant / Appellant / Counter-Plaintiff.

SCT Docket No. 157705  
COA Docket No. 324853  
Circuit Court No. 07-15064-DM

---

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON APPEAL  
(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

---

Respectfully submitted by:

Carson J. Tucker (P62209)  
Attorney for Appellant  
117 N. First St., Suite 111  
Ann Arbor, MI 48104  
(734) 887-9261  
cjtucker@lexfori.org

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Pursuant to MCR 7.305(H)(1), this Court has granted Appellant, Ray James Foster's Application for Leave to Appeal by order dated November 7, 2018 (App. 2a). Appellant appeals the March 22, 2018 Opinion of the Court of Appeals, *Foster v Foster (On Remand)*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued March 22, 2018 (Docket No. 324853) (App. 4a – 10a), which was issued after this Court's remand with specific instructions to consider the unanimous opinion by the United States Supreme Court in *Howell v Howell*, 581 US \_\_\_; 137 S Ct 1400; 197 L Ed 2d 781 (2017) (Slip Opinion reproduced at App. 12a – 23a).<sup>1</sup>

Appellant also appeals the March 14, 2018 order of the Court of Appeals denying Appellant's Motion for a Stay and Termination of Appearance Bond (App. 25a), because the trial court's enforcement and conditions for that bond (Appellant's continuing payments of his federal protected veterans' benefits) were an extra-jurisdictional act and beyond the state court's authority under prevailing state and federal law. See 38 USC 5301(a)(1) and (3)(C) (App. 27a – 29a).

For purposes of issue preservation and further appeal, Appellant also continues to challenge all the rulings of law and reasoning of the Court of Appeals in *Foster v Foster*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued October 13, 2016 (Docket No. 324853) (App. 31a – 35a), significant portions of which were reprinted in and explicitly made a part of the Court of Appeals opinion on remand despite this Court's November 15, 2017 Order vacating the totality of the Court of Appeals' original judgment (App 37a).

---

<sup>1</sup> For the Court's convenience and ease of reference, the slip opinion of the United States Supreme Court's unanimous decision in *Howell v Howell* is made a part of the appendix. The most relevant federal statutes are also reproduced and made a part of the appendix. Citations to these authorities are also provided as instructed by the Michigan Court rules and guidelines.

As a *prima facie* jurisdictional matter, this Court has long held where federal law preempts state law, as it absolutely does in this case, the courts of this state lack subject matter jurisdiction to enter an order contrary to the prevailing federal rule. See, *inter alia*, *Arbuckle v GM LLC*, 499 Mich 521, 532; 885 NW2d 232 (2015); *Henry v Laborers' Local 1191*, 495 Mich 260, 287 and n 82; 848 NW2d 130 (2014); *Ryan v Brunswick Corp*, 454 Mich 20, 27; 557 NW2d 541 (1997) (state courts are deprived of subject-matter jurisdiction where principles of federal preemption apply), abrogated as stated in *Sprietsma v Mercury Marine*, 537 US 51; 123 S Ct 518; 154 L Ed 2d 466 (2002); *Town & Country Motors Inc v Local Union No 328*, 355 Mich 26, 54-55; 94 NW2d 442 (1959) (where federal preemption applies “State courts are without jurisdiction in the most elementary sense” and orders entered in contravention thereof are “void for want of jurisdiction over the subject matter”) (emphasis added). This principle, which applies here, has a significant impact on the Court’s jurisdictional orientation to this case, and especially with respect to the Court’s question concerning the status of the Circuit Court’s contempt orders, which were themselves based on a federally preempted, and therefore absolutely void judgment. Where subject-matter jurisdiction is lacking due to federal preemption, any judgments and orders entered in contravention of the prevailing federal law are void and subject to collateral attack, notwithstanding consent of the parties or the length of time that has passed since such judgments or orders were entered. *Henry*, 495 Mich at 287, n 82 (“preemption is a claim that the state court has *no power* to adjudicate the subject matter...”) (emphasis added); *Town & Country*, *supra* (such orders “being void for want of jurisdiction over the subject matter, [this Court] *cannot remit to such court the fruitless task of ascertaining whether or not certain acts of the defendants constituted a ‘contempt’ of the void order.*”) (emphasis added). See also discussion *infra* at pp. 33 to 39 and 46 to 49.

Federal preemption of state law is grounded in the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, US Const, art VI, cl 2, which “invalidates state laws that ‘interfere with, or are contrary to,’ federal law.” *Hillsborough Co v Automated Med Labs, Inc*, 471 US 707, 712; 105 S Ct 2371; 85 L Ed 2d 714 (1985), quoting *Gibbons v Ogden*, 22 U.S. (9 Wheat) 1, 211; 6 L Ed 23 (1824). When a state law is preempted by federal law, the state law is “without effect.” *Maryland v Louisiana*, 451 US 725, 746; 101 S Ct 2114; 68 L Ed 2d 576 (1981).

[*Beek v City of Wyoming*, 495 Mich 1, 10; 846 NW2d 531 (2014) (emphasis added).]

As the United States Supreme Court has stated:

[S]tate courts may deal with that as they think proper in local matters but they cannot treat it as defeating a plain assertion of federal right. The principle is general and necessary. If the Constitution and laws of the United States are to be enforced, this Court cannot accept *as final the decision of the state tribunal as to what are the facts alleged to give rise to the right or to bar the assertion of it even upon local grounds.*

[*Davis v Wechsler*, 263 US 22, 24-25; 44 S Ct 13; 68 L Ed 143 (1923) (emphasis added).]

Where a state court fails to honor federal rights and duties, the United States Supreme Court has “power over the state court to correct them *to the extent that they incorrectly adjudge federal rights.*” *Ridgway v Ridgway*, 454 US 46, 54; 102 S Ct 49; 70 L Ed 2d 39 (1981) (emphasis added), citing *Herb v Pitcairn*, 324 US 117, 125-26; 65 S Ct 459; 89 L Ed 789 (1945). Thus, “a state divorce decree, like other law governing the economic aspects of domestic relations, must give way to clearly conflicting federal enactments.” *Id.* at 55, citing the Supremacy Clause, US Const, Art VI, cl 2. This principle applies directly to state court divorce decrees that contravene preemptive federal law. *Id.*

A state court that rules incorrectly on a matter preempted by federal law acts in excess of its jurisdiction. Such rulings, and the judgments they spring from, are *void ab initio* and exposed to collateral attack. The United States Supreme Court has said as much: “That a state court before which a proceeding is competently initiated may – by operation of supreme federal law – lose

jurisdiction to proceed to a judgment unassailable on collateral attack is not a concept unknown to our federal system.” *Kalb v Feuerstein*, 308 US 433, 440, n 12; 60 S Ct 343; 84 L Ed 370, 375 (1940). “The States cannot, in the exercise of control over local laws and practice, vest state courts with power to violate the supreme law of the land.” *Id.* at 439. “States have *no power*...to retard, impede, burden, or *in any manner control*, the operations of the constitutional laws enacted by Congress to carry into execution the powers vested in the general government.” *McCulloch v Maryland*, 17 US (4 Wheat) 316, 436; 4 L Ed 579 (1819) (MARSHALL, CJ) (emphasis added). Absent such power, any attempt by state courts to impede the operation of federal laws must be considered a nullity and subject to collateral attack. *Kalb, supra*.

In 2008, when the Circuit Court entered judgment in this case, the law was, and still is today, that state courts may not enter orders as part of a division of property in divorce proceedings which force veterans to part with any non-disposable veterans’ disability benefits to which they are entitled. See generally, *McCarty v McCarty*, 453 US 210, 218-236; 101 S Ct 2728; 69 L Ed 2d 589 (1981); *Mansell v Mansell*, 490 US 581, 588-595; 109 S Ct 2023; 104 L Ed 2d 675 (1989); and *Howell*, 137 S Ct at 1400-1407 (App. 14a – 23a). The Uniformed Services Former Spouses Protection Act (USFSPA), 10 USC 1408 (App. 39a – 51a), as confirmed by the Court in *Howell, supra*, did nothing to change this preexisting, preemptive law. Indeed, the Court stated that “*McCarty*, with its rule of federal preemption, *still applies*.” *Howell*, 137 S Ct at 1404 (App. 17a) (emphasis added).

*McCarty* held, of course, that federal law preempted state law concerning the disposition of non-divisible veterans’ benefits as marital property in state court divorce proceedings. As part of a marital property settlement, the 2008 judgment required Appellant to part with non-disposable federal veterans’ disability pay if he were ever to begin receiving such pay at some point in the

future (App. 56a – 57a, December 3, 2008 Divorce Judgment). This was an order in absolute contravention of the prevailing federal rule enunciated by *McCarty* (in 1981), the USFSPA (in 1982), *Mansell* (in 1989), and then, eventually, reiterated in *Howell* in 2017. In other words, the contents of this order have *always been* preempted by federal law. *Howell*, 137 S Ct at 1404-1405 (App. 19a). “The state court did not extinguish (and most likely would not have had the *legal power* to extinguish) that future contingency” that Appellant could exercise his right to receive his disability entitlement and that Appellee would lose her share. *Id.* (App. 19a – 20a).

Based on this errant, federally preempted order, the Circuit Court went on to enter subsequent orders, culminating in the 2014 contempt order (App 62a – 64a), *enforcing* that part of the preempted 2008 judgment that was violative of federal law, and thereby forcing Appellant to part with his non-disposable federal disability pay. One hundred percent of Appellant’s federal veteran’s income is non-disposable disability pay in the form of Combat Related Special Compensation (CRSC) under 10 USC 1413a (App. 66a – 68a). See also 10 USC 1413a(g) (stating CRSC is *not* retired pay). Since only *retired* pay is “disposable” and therefore “divisible” under the USFSPA, any state court order that allows or forces diversion of *any other* veterans’ benefits (those benefits considered *non-disposable*, which include disability pay and, necessarily, CRSC pay, which is based on the servicemember’s combat-incurred disability, is and always has been preempted by federal law because Congress has total and absolute authority over the designation and provision of veterans’ benefits under Article I, section 8, clauses 12 through 13 of the U.S. Constitution. *Howell*, 137 S Ct at 1406 (App. 21a) (stating “[t]he basic reasons *McCarty* gave for believing that Congress intended to exempt military retirement pay from state community property laws apply *a fortiori* to disability pay.”).



What this means is that the part of the 2008 judgment that was preempted by federal law did not lose its character as preempted because some interim state appellate court case, here *Megee v Carmine*, 290 Mich App 551; 802 NW2d 669 (2010), purported to justify it after the fact. To ignore this reality would be a legal, and indeed, jurisdictional impossibility. *Kalb v Feuerstein*, 308 US at 440, n 12.

So, as it is this Court's duty to consider first the question of the trial court's jurisdiction to have issued the orders that it has issued in contravention of federal law, Appellant would respectfully suggest that this Court must question the Circuit Court's jurisdiction to have ever entered an order violative of then existing preemptive federal law in the first instance. The end result is, as it has been confirmed many times in this state, the portion of the order violative of the federal rule is *void ab initio*. *Semmes v United States*, 91 US 21, 27; 23 L Ed 193, 195 (1875). See also *Barney v Barney*, 216 Mich 224, 228; 184 NW 860 (1921) and *Koepke v Dyer*, 80 Mich 311, 312; 45 NW 143 (1890) (the latter cited in Freeman, Judgments (5th ed) § 324, pp 648-649 (discussing the severability of judgments or orders void for lack of the court's authority to enter them from otherwise valid judgments)). It is an absolute nullity, and no consent to its entry, nor passage of time therefrom, can ever erase this jurisdictional defect. *Bowie v Arder*, 441 Mich 23, 54, 57; 490 NW2d 568 (1992). Appellant thoroughly explains this below and traces the authority for this proposition back to its origins in Michigan jurisprudence. There should be no doubt that an order (or such part of that order) preempted by federal law is void and may be attacked, challenged, and nullified at any time, even on appeal, indeed, even after the time for appeal has passed.

So, this Court's jurisdiction is to consider the original authority of the circuit court to have ever entered a judgment containing a provision that is (and always was) contrary to prevailing, preemptive, and supreme federal law. This Court is bound to follow preemptive federal law. *Betty*

*v Brooks Perkins*, 446 Mich 270, 276; 521 NW2d 518 (1994). The application of and absolute control by federal law over the subject matter of Appellant’s federal veteran’s benefits is a jurisdictional bar to the trial court’s authority, and allows this Court to question, *sua sponte*, the trial court’s jurisdiction to have ever entered the contravening order in the first instance.

#### QUESTIONS PRESENTED

This case returns from the Court of Appeals after remand on this Court’s specific instructions that it consider the United States Supreme Court’s unanimous decision in *Howell v Howell*, 581 US \_\_\_; 137 S Ct 1400; 197 L Ed 2d 781 (2017) (App. 12a – 23a), which held state courts are preempted by federal law from requiring a retired military servicemember to reimburse or indemnify his or her former spouse in a marital property division in divorce proceedings for any financial losses suffered by the former spouse resulting from the servicemember’s post-judgment waiver of retired pay to receive veterans’ disability benefits to which he or she is entitled.

In *Howell, supra*, the Court held that state courts had always been preempted from considering *any* veterans’ benefits as divisible in marital property divisions in divorce proceedings except “disposable retired pay” as defined in the USFSPA, 10 USC 1408(a)(4), (c)(1) and (e)(1) (App. 39a – 44a). *Howell*, 137 S Ct at 1403-1406 (App. 14a – 15a and 21a). See also *McCarty v McCarty*, 453 US 210, 228-229 and n 22; 101 S Ct 2728; 69 L Ed 2d 589 (1981) and *Mansell v Mansell*, 490 US 581, 586-587, 595; 109 S Ct 2023; 104 L Ed 2d 675 (1989). In *Howell*, the Court held that this preexisting preemption applies to *all* veterans’ disability benefits. *Howell, supra* at 1406 (App 21a).

The Court also held that state courts cannot enforce orders that seek to indemnify or reimburse the veteran’s former spouse for the latter’s loss of the veteran’s military retired pay where the veteran is required by law to waive that pay to receive disability pay, stating “[r]egardless of their form, such reimbursement and indemnification orders displace the federal rule and stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the purposes and objectives of Congress.” *Howell, supra* at 1406 (App. 21a). “All such orders are thus pre-empted.” *Id.*

The Court also stated that per 38 USC 5301 (a)(1), state courts had no authority to “vest” these benefits in anyone other than the beneficiary, i.e., the veteran. (App. 20a).

In its November 7, 2018 Order (App. 2a), this Court has asked the parties to address the following issues, in addition to the issues that were raised in Appellant’s Application for Leave to Appeal (After Remand), filed with this Court on May 3, 2018:

## I.

Whether the principles set forth in *Howell*, *supra*, apply to combat-related special compensation (CRSC), 10 USC 1413a?

Appellant Answers: Yes. *Howell* ruled that the USFSPA forbade state courts from dividing anything other than “disposable retired pay”, which is defined in the USFSPA, 10 USC 1408 (App 39a – 51a). CRSC is not disposable retired pay. Rather, it is special compensation based on a combat-related disability incurred by the veteran. Moreover, it is specifically *excluded* from consideration as divisible pay under the USFSPA because Congress explicitly stated it is not to be considered retired pay. See 10 USC 1413a(g) (App 67a). Only disposable retired pay is divisible. *Howell*, 137 S Ct at 1404 (App 16a – 17a). According to the Court, the USFSPA “provided a ‘precise and limited grant of power [to the states] to divide federal military retirement pay.’” *Id.* (App. 17a), citing *Mansell*, 490 US at 589. All other pay, including disability pay, is unavailable for state court disposition as property in divorce proceedings. *Id.* Since *Howell* ruled that under the USFSPA only disposable retired pay can be divided by a state court, and no other veteran’s benefits can be considered, CRSC cannot be considered as a divisible property asset in state court divorce proceedings.

Appellee Answers: No.

Court of Appeals (On Remand) Answers: No.

## II.

If federal preemption enunciated in *Howell* applies to CRSC, does *Megee v Carmine*, 290 Mich App 551; 802 NW2d 669 (2010), remain good law? (App. 2a).

Appellant Answers: No. In *Megee*, the Court of Appeals held:

[A] military spouse remains financially responsible to compensate his or her former spouse in an amount equal to the share of retirement pay ordered to be distributed to the former spouse as part of a divorce judgment’s property division when the military spouse makes a unilateral and voluntary postjudgment election to waive the retirement pay in favor of disability benefits contrary to the terms of the divorce judgment.... Conceptually...*we are dividing waived retirement pay* in order to honor the terms and intent of the divorce judgment.... [T]he compensation to be paid the former spouse as his or her share of the property division in lieu of the waived retirement pay can come from any source the military spouse chooses, *but it must be paid to avoid contempt of court....*

[*Megee*, 290 Mich App at 566-567, 574-575 (emphasis added) (footnote omitted).]

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals ruled:

*Megee* governs and dictates.... [T]he offset provision in the consent divorce judgment is fully enforceable through the trial court's contempt powers.... [A] state divorce court has the authority to divide waived retirement pay, which waiver had resulted from a veteran's decision to elect CRSC, so long as the court does not directly order payment from CRSC funds....

[*Foster v Foster (On Remand)*, unpublished per curiam opinion of the Michigan Court of Appeals, issued March 22, 2018 (Docket No. 324853) (App. 8a)]<sup>2</sup>

In its unanimous opinion, the Supreme Court in *Howell* directly addressed and rejected the *Megee*-type state court orders, holding state courts had always been preempted from enforcing orders that seek to increase the amount the divorced spouse receives each month from the veteran's retirement pay in order to indemnify the divorced spouse for the loss caused by the veteran's waiver. *Howell*, 137 S Ct at 1406 (App. 14a – 15a; 20a – 21a).

The Court ruled that the states court not get around federal preemption prohibiting the division of disposable retired pay as property by approving of orders “requiring [the veteran] to ‘reimburse’ or to ‘indemnify’ [the former spouse].” *Id.* (App 20a). The Court continued:

The difference is semantic and nothing more. The principal reason the state courts have given for ordering reimbursement or indemnification is that they wish to restore the amount previously awarded as community property, i.e., to restore that portion of retirement pay lost due to postdivorce waiver.... Regardless of their form, such reimbursement and indemnification orders displace the federal rule and stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the purposes and objectives of Congress. *All* such orders are thus preempted.

[*Id.* (App. 20a – 21a (emphasis added)).]

Appellee Answers: Yes.

---

<sup>2</sup> Incidentally, even though this Court vacated the original judgment and opinion of the Court of Appeals, it essentially reprinted its opinion and reasoning in its decision on remand from this Court. (See *Foster v Foster*, unpublished per curiam opinion of the Michigan Court of Appeals, issued October 13, 2016 (Docket No. 324853) (App. 31a – 35a)).

Court of Appeals Answers: Yes.

### III.

Whether the Court of Appeals was correct in upholding the Dickinson Circuit Court's November 6, 2014 contempt order against defendant? (App. 2a).

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