**STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

DEBORAH LYNN FOSTER,

Plaintiff/Appellee/Respondent,

SCT Docket No. 157705  
COA Docket No. 324853  
Circuit Court No. 07-15064-DM

vs.

RAY JAMES FOSTER,

Defendant/Appellant/Counter-Plaintiff/Petitioner

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF  
(ORAL ARGUMENTS REQUESTED)**

---

Respectfully Submitted:  
By: Adam L. Kruppstadt (P43766)  
Adam L. Kruppstadt, PC  
220 East Ludington Street  
Iron Mountain, MI 49801  
(906) 779-0911  
alklaw@att.net

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

**ARGUMENT I**  
***HOWELL v. HOWELL***

In support of the argument that the award of a portion of Appellant's military disability benefits and/or Combat-Related Special Compensation to Plaintiff-Appellee in the Judgment of Divorce rendered the Judgment "void", Defendant-Appellant cites the following: "The United States Supreme Court held in *Howell* that all military retired and disability pay is protected by federal preemption from consideration as a marital property asset in state court divorce proceedings, except that which is defined as disposable retired pay in the USFSPA. *Howell*, 136 S. Ct. at 1403-1406 (app 17a, 19a-21a). The Court noted that the protected benefits are personal entitlements intended to actually reach the beneficiaries." (Emphasis added) (Appellant's Brief, page 11).

The Court of Appeals, in its March 22, 2018 order, noted that in *Howell*, the state court treated as community property and awarded to a veteran's spouse upon divorce a portion of the veterans' total retirement pay. Long after the divorce, the veteran waived a share of the retirement pay in order to receive non-taxable disability benefits from the Federal Government instead. Can the state subsequently increase, pro rata the amount the divorced spouse receives each month from the veteran's retirement pay in order to indemnify the divorced spouse for the loss caused by the veteran's waiver? The question is complicated, but the answer is not. Our cases and the statute make it clear that the answer to the indemnification question is "no". [Citation omitted]. (Unpublished Court of Appeals Opinion dated March 22, 2018 citing *Howell*, page 7).

The facts in *Howell*, as recited by the Supreme Court are, John Howell, the Petitioner, and Sandra Hall, the Respondent, were divorced in 1991, while Petitioner was serving in the Air Force. Anticipating John's eventual retirement, the divorce decree treated John's eventual

retirement pay as community property. It awarded Sandra as her sole and separate property fifty percent of John's military retirement when it begins. In 1992, John retired from the Air Force and began to receive military retirement pay, half of which went to Sandra. About 13 years later, the Department of Veterans' Affairs found that John was 20% disabled due to a service-related shoulder injury. John elected to receive disability benefits and consequently had to waive about \$250.00 per month of the roughly \$1,500.00 of military retirement pay he shared with Sandra. Doing so reduced the amount of retirement pay that he and Sandra received by about \$125.00 per month.

Sandra then asked the trial court to enforce the original decree, in effect restoring the value of her share of John's total retirement pay. The trial court held that the original divorce decree had given Sandra a vested interest in the pre-waived amount of that pay, and ordered John to ensure that Sandra received her full fifty percent of the military retirement without regard to the disability. The Supreme Court concluded that the trial court's order, i.e. that John reimburse or indemnify Sandra for the reduction in the benefits she received, resulted in what can be characterized as an order invading exempt military disability pay. The court held that, "All such orders are thus preempted." It is unclear whether the divorce decree at issue in *Howell* was entered by consent or following a contested hearing. Either way, the provision awarding Respondent fifty percent of Petitioner's military retirement did not account for the possibility that the award might or could be reduced in the event that Petitioner elected to receive non-assignable disability benefits. The Supreme Court noted, "We recognize, as we recognized in *Mansell*, the hardship that congressional preemption can sometimes work on a divorcing spouse." (Citation omitted). In other words, even though the reduction or elimination of benefits, received by the non-military spouse resulting from an election by the receipt of military benefits,

results in significant financial hardship, any order by the trial court that divides or invades protected benefits is void or unenforceable.

With respect to the reimbursement issue, the Court in *Howell* held: “We see nothing in this circumstance that makes the reimbursement award to Sandra any less an award of the portion of military retirement pay that John waived in order to obtain disability benefits. And this is the portion that Congress omitted from the Act’s definition of ‘disposable retired pay’, namely, the portion that federal law prohibits state courts from awarding to a divorced veteran’s former spouse, *Mansell, supra* at 589. That the Arizona courts referred to Sandra’s interest in the waivable portion as having ‘vested’, does not help. State courts cannot ‘vest’ that which under governing federal law they lack authority to give. Accordingly, while the divorce decree might be said to ‘vest’ Sandra with an immediate right to half of John’s military retirement pay, that interest is, at most, contingent, depending for its amount on a subsequent condition; John’s possible waiver of that pay. Neither can the state avoid *Mansell* by describing the family court order as an order requiring John to ‘reimburse’ or ‘indemnify’ Sandra, rather than an order that divides property. The difference is semantic and nothing more. The principal reason the state courts have given for ordering reimbursement or indemnification is that they wish to restore the amount previously awarded as community property, i.e. to restore that portion of retirement pay lost due to the post divorce waiver... Regardless of their form, such reimbursement and indemnification orders displace the federal rule and stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the purposes and objectives of Congress. All such orders are thus preempted.” *Howell, supra*, pages 7-8.

The *Howell* opinion makes it clear that service-connected disability benefits as the sole property of the recipient, are protected by the language of 10 USC 1408 and that pursuant to

federal law the same shall not be considered by a state court as a marital asset and divided as such as part of an order for property division. It stands to reason that since service-connected disability benefits are the “sole property” of the recipient, then the recipient should be free to agree to the disposition of those benefits as part of a property settlement in a divorce action.

## **ARGUMENT II APPLICABILITY OF *HOWELL* TO THE INSTANT ACTION**

There is an important distinction between *Howell* and other cases in which a trial court in contested divorce actions divides military disability benefits or orders military disability benefits to be used as an offset when a non-military spouse’s benefits are reduced due to an election that reclassifies the nature of the benefits and this matter. Here, the Defendant-Appellant was receiving military disability benefits at the time of the divorce. As the Court of Appeals noted, Defendant-Appellant testified at the divorce hearing that he was receiving both military retirement pay and military disability benefits based on injuries sustained during the war in Iraq. The parties agreed that Plaintiff-Appellee would received fifty percent (50%) of Defendant-Appellant’s retirement pay or “disposable military retired pay,” as calculated based on Defendant-Appellant’s creditable military service during the marriage. Defendant-Appellant also agreed to the inclusion of the following language in the Consent Judgment of Divorce: “If Defendant should ever become disabled either partially or in whole, then Plaintiff’s share of Defendant’s entitlement shall be calculated as if Defendant had not become disabled. Defendant shall be responsible to pay, directly to Plaintiff, the sum to which she would be entitled if Defendant had not become disabled. Defendant shall pay this sum to Plaintiff out of his own pocket and earnings, whether he is paying that sum from his disability pay or otherwise, even if the military refuses to pay those sums directly to Plaintiff. If the military thereby reduces, but does not entirely stop, direct payment to Plaintiff, Defendant shall be responsible to pay directly



to Plaintiff any decrease in pay that Plaintiff should have been awarded had Defendant not become disabled, together with any cost of living increases that Plaintiff would have received had Defendant not become disabled. Failure of Defendant to pay these amounts is punishable through all contempt powers of the court.”

The disposition of Defendant-Appellant’s military benefits was not based on a finding by the court that his benefits were marital assets subject to division under any and all circumstances and a corresponding order to that effect. The trial court in the instant action did not treat Appellant’s military benefits as marital property. The court acknowledged, on the record, that military disability benefits in the state of Michigan are not considered to be marital property. (Transcript of December 3, 2008 hearing, page 32). There is nothing in *Howell, Megee*, or any of the other cases cited by Defendant-Appellant or in Defendant-Appellant’s argument that states, unequivocally, that even though service-connected disability benefits are the sole property of the recipient, the recipient is barred from voluntarily consenting to the disposition of said benefits as part of a negotiated property settlement in a divorce action, or that any order entered by a state court that contains any such language so agreed upon is void and not subject to enforcement.

The Defendant-Appellant makes this sweeping statement in his brief to this Court: “Since only retired pay is ‘disposable’ and therefore ‘divisible’ under USFSPA any state court order that allows or forces diversion of any other veterans’ benefits (those benefits considered non-disposable, which include disability pay and, necessarily CRSC pay, which is based on the service member’s combat-incurred disability), is and always has been preempted by federal law because Congress has total and absolute authority over the designation and provision of veteran’s benefits under Article 1, Section 8, Clauses 12 through 13 of the US Constitution. (Emphasis

added) (Appellant’s Brief, page 5). The word “allows” is presumably intended to refer to “consent judgments” or orders entered by stipulation. The word “allow” does not appear in the language of the USFSPA.

Defendant-Appellant references the case of *Roberts v. Roberts*, \_\_\_ SW 3d \_\_\_; 2018 Tenn. App. Lexis 195, at \*22 (Ct. App., Apr. 16, 2018). In that case the court noted, “... although the Supreme Court did not make a distinction between divorce decrees ordered by the court and agreements entered by the parties, the holding in *Howell* casts substantial doubt as to whether state courts may enter divorce decrees of any kind in which the parties seek to divide any service related benefits other than disposable retired pay.” (Appellant’s Brief, page 45).

The foregoing is hardly support for the argument that Appellant wants to make which is that any order entered by the court, whether by consent, or following a contested hearing, that divides military disability benefits is preempted by federal law.

In its analysis of *Howell* the Court of Appeals on remand noted: *Howell* involved general service-connected disability benefits, and the Supreme Court’s opinion rested squarely on language in former 10 USC 1408(a)(4)(B), which provided and still provides in 10 USC 1408(a)(4)(A)(ii) that ‘disposable retired pay’ means a member’s total monthly retired pay less amounts that are deducted from the retired pay... as a result of a waiver of retired pay required by law in order to receive compensation under Title 5 or Title 38 (Citation omitted). CRSC (Combat-related Special Disability pay) at issue in this appeal is compensation under Title 10, not Title 5 or Title 38 as referenced when arriving at ‘disposable retired pay.’ Opinion of the Court of Appeals dated March 22, 2018, page 7.

The distinction between Combat-Related Special Disability pay, general service-connected disability benefits and disposable retired pay is not as critical as an analysis of what

happens when an election is made that changes the nature of the benefit to be received. The important point is that if the recipient of disposable retired pay elects, at some point, to receive Combat-Related Special Disability Compensation, or general service-connected disability benefits, the amount of the disposable retired pay is reduced. Plaintiff-Appellee's attorney in the divorce action anticipated that there would be a change in the nature of the benefits received by Defendant-Appellant based on an election he intended to make to receive Combat-Related Special Disability pay. Plaintiff-Appellee's counsel and Defendant-Appellant's counsel knew that if Defendant-Appellant made such an election there would be a corresponding reduction in the benefits to be received by Plaintiff-Appellee, hence the inclusion of the "offset provision" agreed to by Defendant-Appellant and included in the Judgment of Divorce. (Transcript of December 5, 2008 Final Divorce Hearing, pages 26-29). The court questioned counsel and Defendant-Appellant about the disposition of his military benefits at the time of the final hearing. The applicable portions of the transcript and the exchange between the court and the attorneys from the December 3, 2008 final hearing are attached hereto as **Exhibit 1**.

**ARGUMENT III**  
***MEGEE v. CARMINE***

In *Megee*, Defendant, pursuant to what was identified as a consent judgment, was awarded fifty percent of Plaintiff's Navy disposable retirement pay as part of the property division. A Qualified Domestic Relations Order that was entered pursuant to the consent judgment in order to effectuate the award to Defendant. The QDRO also contained language preventing Plaintiff from making another benefit election that would otherwise reduce the monthly pension allotment without the written consent of Defendant. Subsequent to the entry of the Judgment of Divorce and the QDRO, Plaintiff elected to receive Combat-Related Special Compensation (CRSC) resulting in the termination of his retirement pay and the cessation of

funds paid to Defendant. Defendant moved to enforce the divorce judgment and the QDRO asserting that Plaintiff elected to receive Combat-Related Special Compensation instead of retirement pay without Defendant's written consent, in violation of the applicable order.

The Court of Appeals noted that, "The parties had also agreed that their mutual intent was to provide Defendant with fifty percent of Plaintiff's retirement pay and that the decision to elect CRSC and to waive in its entirety the retirement pay was inconsistent with the declared mutual intent."

In *Megee* the court recognized that the trial court, by ordering Plaintiff to act as Trustee for the benefit of Defendant with respect to half of the plaintiff's benefits and then deliver those funds to defendant, effectively divided plaintiff's CRSC in violation of the USFSPA. Plaintiff citing *Mansell v. Mansell*, 490 US 581, 109 S. Ct. 2023, 104 L. Ed. 2d, 675 (1989), argued that federal law precluded the court from ordering him to give any of his CRSC to defendant.

The Court of Appeals, in *Megee*, framed the issue before it as follows: "Whether a military spouse remains financially responsible to compensate his or her former spouse in an amount equal to the share of retirement pay ordered to be distributed to the former spouse as part of a divorce judgments' property division when the military spouse makes a unilateral and voluntary post judgment election to waive retirement pay in favor of disability benefits contrary to the terms of the divorce judgment." *Megee*, page 676.

The judgment of divorce in *Megee* was entered by consent and, as the court noted, the mutual intent of the parties was that defendant receive fifty percent of plaintiff's retirement pay. It appears from the language of the QDRO that the possibility of a change in the classification of the benefits was contemplated. The QDRO stated that plaintiff was precluded from making

another benefit election, “that would otherwise reduce the monthly pension allotment without the written consent of defendant.”

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